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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 

MIDDLE DISTRICT OF TENNESSEE 

NASHVILLE DIVISION 

 

MELISSA KIMBLE, Individually, 

and on behalf of herself and other similarly  

situated current and former employees,  

 

  Plaintiff,      No. _____________________ 

 

v.         FLSA Opt-in Collective Action  

 

LOGAN SENIOR CARE, LLC d/b/a 

ALWAYS BEST CARE SENIOR SERVICES, 

a Tennessee Limited Liability Corporation, 

and STEPHEN LOGAN, Individually,  

   

  Defendants.  

 

 

PLAINTIFF’S ORIGINAL COLLECTIVE ACTION COMPLAINT 

 
 

Plaintiff Melissa Kimble, individually and on behalf of all others similarly 

situated, brings this Fair Labor Standards Act (“FLSA”) suit against the above-named 

Defendants and shows as follows: 

I. NATURE OF SUIT 
 

1. The FLSA was passed by Congress in 1938 to eliminate low wages and long hours and 

to correct conditions that were detrimental to the health and well-being of workers. To 

achieve its humanitarian goals, the FLSA “limits to 40 a week the number of hours that an 

employer may employ any of his employees subject to the Act, unless the employee receives 

compensation for his employment in excess of 40 hours at a rate not less than one and one-

half times the regular rate at which he is employed.” Walling v. Helmerich & Payne, 323 

U.S. 37, 40 (1944) (discussing the requirements of 29 U.S.C. § 207 (a)). 

2. Defendants violated the FLSA in that it failed to pay Plaintiff for all hours she worked 
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by not compensating her at the rate of time and one-half her regular rate of pay for all the 

hours worked over 40 hours in one workweek. Plaintiff brings this action as a collective 

action pursuant to 29 U.S.C. § 216(b). 

I. PARTIES 
 

3. Plaintiff Melissa Kimble is an individual who was employed by Defendants as a 

“home care worker” or “caregiver” within the meaning of the FLSA within the three-year 

period preceding the filing of this Collective Action Complaint. She hereby consents to be a 

party in this action and her consent form is attached as “Exhibit A.” 

4. Plaintiff and “Class Members” are Defendants’ current and former home care 

workers and caregivers who were not paid overtime pay for overtime work as required by 

the FLSA. 

5.    Defendant Logan Senior Care, LLC is a limited liability company authorized to do 

business, and does business, in the State of Tennessee. It can be served through its registered 

agent and owner, Stephen Logan, at 4332 Kenilwood Drive, Nashville, Davidson County, 

Tennessee 37204, or wherever it may be found. Logan Senior Care, LLC owns and operates a 

“Always Best Care Senior Services” homecare franchise that provides, interalia, homecare and 

companionship services to elderly and/or disabled customers in Middle Tennessee, including 

within Davidson and Williamson Counties. Upon information and belief, Stephen Logan is the 

sole owner of Logan Senior Care, LLC and during the relevant period exercised operational 

control, including hiring and terminating Plaintiff from employment and setting the day rate 

Plaintiff was compensated. Upon information and belief, Stephen Logan made the decision to 

not pay Plaintiff overtime compensation. 

6. Plaintiff brings this action on behalf of herself and the following similarly situated 

persons: 
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All current and former home care workers and caregivers (including but not limited to 

Certified Nurse Assistants, CNAs, Home Health Aids, and HHAs) employed by Logan 

Senior Care, LLC who performed job duties on its behalf at any time during the 

applicable limitation's period covered by this Collective Action Complaint (i.e. two years 

for FLSA violations and, three years for willful FLSA violations) up to and including the 

date of final judgment in this matter, and who is the Named Plaintiff and those who elect 

to opt-in to this action pursuant to the FLSA, 29 U.S.C. § 216(b).  (Collectively, "the 

class"). 

II. JURISDICTION AND VENUE 
 

7. This Court has jurisdiction over this lawsuit because the suit arises under 29 U.S.C. § 201 et 

seq. 

8. Venue is proper in this District under 28 U.S.C. § 1391(b)(2) because Defendants 

reside in this District and because the events that form the basis of this suit occurred in this 

District. 

III. COVERAGE 
 

9. At all material times, Defendants have acted, directly or indirectly, in the interest 

of an employer or joint employer with respect to Plaintiff and Class Members. 

10. At all times hereinafter mentioned, Defendants have been an employer within the 

meaning of the Section 3(d) of the FLSA, 29 U.S.C. § 203(d). 

11. At all times hereinafter mentioned, Defendants have been an enterprise within the 

meaning of Section 3(r) of the FLSA, 29 U.S.C. § 203(r). 

 

12. At all times hereinafter mentioned, Defendants have been an enterprise engaged in 

commerce or in the production of goods for commerce within the meaning of Section 3(s)(1) 
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of the FLSA, 29 U.S.C. § 203(s)(1), in that said enterprise has had employees engaged in 

commerce or in the production of goods for commerce, or employees handling, selling, or 

otherwise working on goods or materials that have been moved in or produced for commerce 

by any person and in that said enterprise has had and has an annual gross volume of sales 

made or business done of not less than $500,000 (exclusive of excise taxes at the retail level 

which are separately stated). 

13. At all times hereinafter mentioned, Plaintiff and Class Members were individual 

employees who were engaged in commerce or in the production of goods for commerce 

as required by 29 U.S.C. §§ 206–207. 

 

IV. FACTUAL ALLEGATIONS 
 

14. Defendants employ home care workers or caregivers that provide homecare and 

companionship services to elderly and/or disabled customers in Middle Tennessee. They 

conduct business throughout the Middle Tennessee and do more than $500,000.00 per 

year in business. 

15. Plaintiff was employed by Defendants as a home care worker or caregiver from 

approximately January 2017 to January 2018. She regularly worked 40 or more hours in a 

workweek at one of Defendants’ customers’ home during the last three years and period 

covered by this lawsuit. 

16. For example, Plaintiff regularly worked over 40 hours per week. Yet, Defendant did 

not pay Plaintiff for any of her overtime work. Instead, Defendants paid Plaintiff a day rate or 

flat rate for all work hours, including hours worked over 40 per week. 

17. Defendants knowingly, willfully, or with reckless disregard carried out its illegal 

pattern or practice of failing to pay overtime compensation with respect to Plaintiff and Class 
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Members. Defendants received complaints from Plaintiff or Class Members regarding these 

excessive hours and the failure to compensate for all hours worked but failed to redress 

these concerns, necessitating this lawsuit. 

V. COLLECTIVE ACTION ALLEGATIONS 
 

18. Plaintiff re-alleges and incorporates paragraphs 1–17 as if fully set forth herein. 

 

19. Plaintiff and Class Members were subjected to the same pay provisions and violations in that 

they were employed as home care workers or caregivers and not compensated for all hours 

worked and not compensated at time-and-one-half for all hours worked in excess of 40 hours 

in a workweek. 

20. Defendants’ failure to compensate employees for all hours worked and hours worked 

in excess of 40 in a workweek as required by the FLSA results from a policy or practice of 

paying only a day rate or flat rate per day. This policy or practice was applicable to Plaintiff 

and Class Members. Application of this policy or practice does not depend on the personal 

circumstances of Plaintiff or those joining this lawsuit. Rather, the same policy or practice, 

which resulted in the non-payment of overtime and all hours worked, that applied to Plaintiff 

applied to all Class Members. 

21. Defendants were aware of their obligation to pay overtime to Plaintiff and Class 

Members and failed to do so. Defendants knowingly, willfully, or with reckless disregard 

carried out their illegal pattern or practice of failing to pay overtime compensation with 

respect to Plaintiff and Class Members. 

 

VI. CAUSE OF ACTION:  FAILURE TO PAY WAGES 

IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE FAIR LABOR STANDARDS 

ACT 
 

22. Plaintiff re-alleges and incorporates paragraphs 1–21 as if fully set forth herein. 
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23. During the relevant period, Defendants have violated and is violating the 

provisions of Sections 6 and/or 7 of the FLSA, 29 U.S.C. §§ 206, 207, and 215(a)(2), by 

employing employees in an enterprise engaged in commerce or in the production of goods 

for commerce within the meaning of the FLSA as aforesaid, for workweeks longer than 40 

hours without compensating such employees for their work in excess of 40 hours per week at 

rates no less than one-and-a-half times the regular rates for which they were employed. 

Defendants have acted willfully in failing to pay Plaintiff and Class Members in accordance 

with the law. 

VII. RELIEF SOUGHT 
 

24. WHEREFORE, cause having been shown, Plaintiff prays for judgment against 

Defendants as follows: 

a. For an order conditionally certifying this action under the FLSA, 29 U.S.C. 201, et seq. 

and thus allowing Plaintiff to send notice of this lawsuit to putative class members 

inviting them to join: 

b. For an Order pursuant to Section 16(b) of the FLSA finding Defendants liable for 

unpaid back wages due to Plaintiff (and those who may join this suit) and for liquidated 

damages equal in amount to the unpaid compensation found due to Plaintiff (and 

those who may join this suit); 

c. For an Order awarding Plaintiff (and those who may join this suit) the costs of this 

action; 

d. For an Order awarding Plaintiff (and those who may join this suit) attorneys’ fees; 

 

e. For and Order awarding Plaintiff (and those who may join this suit) pre-judgment and 

post-judgment interest at the highest rates allowed by law; and 

f. For an Order granting such other and further relief as may be appropriate. 
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Respectfully submitted,   

/s/Gordon E. Jackson                                     

Gordon E. Jackson (TN BPR #8323)  

James L. Holt, Jr. (TN BPR #012123) 

Russ Bryant (TN BPR #33830)  

Nathan A. Bishop (TN BPR #35944)        

JACKSON, SHIELDS, YEISER & HOLT        

262 German Oak Drive        

Memphis, Tennessee 38018        

Tel: (901) 754-8001        

Fax: (901) 759-1745        

gjackson@jsyc.com  

jholt@jsyc.com 

rbryant@jsyc.com        

nbishop@jsyc.com 

 

ATTORNEYS FOR PLAINTIFF 
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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
MIDDLE DISTRICT OF TENNESSEE

MELISSA KIMBLE, Individually,
and on behalf ofherself and other similarly
situated current and former employees,

Plaintiff, NO.

v. FLSA Opt-In Collective Action

JURY DEMANDED

LOGAN SENIOR CARE, LLC d/b/a
ALWAYS BEST CARE SENIOR
SERVICES and STEPHEN LOGAN,
individually,

Defendants.

CONSENT TO JOIN AS CLASS REPRESENTATIVE

1. I have been employed by Defendants Logan Senior Care, LLC d/b/a Always Best Care and
Stephen Logan within the past three years.

2. I hereby consent to join this or any subsequent action against the Defendants as a Named
Representative Plaintiff to assert claims for violations of the FLSA 29 U.S.C. § 201, et

seq., including the non-payment ofwages as specified in the Collective Action Complaint.
3. I understand this lawsuit is brought under the Fair Labor Standards Act of 1938, as

amended, 29 U.S.C. § 216(b), et seq. I hereby consent to join and opt-in and authorize the
prosecution of the above-styled action to recover unpaid wages in my name and on my
behalf as an above Named Representative Plaintiff. I agree to keep counsel for Plaintiffs
informed as to my correct mailing address and telephone number.

4. If this case does not proceed collectively, I also consent to join any subsequent action to
assert claims against Defendants and any other related entities for unpaid wages.

5. I understand that the personal information provided on this form will not be used for
purposes other than these legal claims. Please fill this form out completely.

You can mail this form to JSYH, 262 German Oak Drive, Memphis, TN 38018 or Fax
to (901) 754-8524 or Email to rturner@jsyc.com

..\--
Signature Date Full Legal Name

EXH BIT
II
2 4
a Aft
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